

This package contains the following documents:

- Notice of Rulemaking
- Draft Rules Edits Highlighted
- Draft Rules Edits Included (final clean version)

Note for Readers:

This package contains multiple documents. If you want to read more than one document at a time, you can open multiple copies of this PDF by downloading the PDF and then opening it in Adobe. You can then either:

- Click on the "Windows" item in the top ribbon
- Click on "New Window"
- A second copy of the PDF will open in a new window

Or:

- Click on "File" in the top ribbon
- Click on "Open" in the top ribbon
- Double click on the name of the PDF you want to open
- A second copy of the PDF will open in a separate tab in the same window

Table of Contents

| Introduction | 1 |
|---|----|
| Request for Other Options | 1 |
| Overview | 1 |
| Procedural Summary | 2 |
| Statement of need | 4 |
| Rules affected, authorities, supporting documents | 6 |
| Documents relied on for rulemaking | 6 |
| Fee Analysis | 7 |
| Statement of fiscal and economic impact | 8 |
| Housing cost | 12 |
| Racial Equity | 13 |
| Environmental Justice Considerations | 16 |
| Federal relationship | 17 |
| Land use | 18 |
| EQC Prior Involvement | 19 |
| Advisory Committee | 20 |
| Public Engagement | 22 |
| Public Hearing | 23 |
| Draft Rules – Edits Highlighted | 25 |
| Draft Rules – Edits Incorporated | 42 |

Introduction

DEQ invites public input on proposed permanent rule amendments to chapter 340 of the Oregon Administrative Rules.

Request for Other Options

During the public comment period, DEQ asks for public comment on whether there are other options for achieving the rules' substantive goals while reducing the rules' negative economic impact on business.

Overview

The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality Clean Water State Revolving Fund program is conducting a rulemaking to modify requirements for the Clean Water State Revolving Fund program, Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) Chapter 340, Division 54 this year. The proposed rule changes focus on four sections of Oregon Administrative Rules for the Oregon Clean Water State Revolving Fund program:

340-054-0025 Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: Intended Use Plan (IUP) and Project Priority List

340-054-0026 Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: CWSRF Project Ranking Criteria for Non-Planning Loans

<u>340-054-0027</u> Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: CWSRF Project Ranking Criteria for Planning Loans

<u>340-054-0065</u> Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans to Public Agency Borrowers: Loan Types, Terms and Interest Rates

The federal Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (H.R. 3684: Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act) signed into law Nov. 15, 2021, includes additional funding for Clean Water State Revolving Fund programs annually over five years with new requirements to increase the amount of principal forgiveness for eligible borrowers. The law took effect in May 2022 and the Oregon CWSRF intends to apply for BIL supplemental capitalization grant funding in early 2023. CWSRF is conducting this rulemaking primarily to allow flexibility for the program to meet new requirements regarding principal forgiveness, which the rule currently limits on a per loan basis. This rulemaking would allow the program to provide more principal forgiveness for loans to finance water quality and infrastructure projects throughout Oregon. Principal forgiveness is defined in OAR 340-054-0010 Definitions, (29): "Principal forgiveness" means additional subsidization that allows a borrower to repay only a specified portion of the loan principal. Oregon CWSRF can provide principal forgiveness to eligible borrowers that meet affordability criteria, projects that meet green project eligibility based on EPA criteria, or to address ratepayer

hardship. Principal forgiveness is an incentive, particularly for disadvantaged communities that meet affordability criteria under the Clean Water Act, to utilize CWSRF financing for water quality and infrastructure improvement projects.

The rulemaking also allows the program to address the state's and EPA's priorities to revise affordability criteria and project ranking and scoring to further ensure funding is targeted for disadvantaged communities that meet affordability criteria under the Clean Water Act. The rule changes also enable the program to incorporate environmental justice metrics into affordability criteria and project ranking and scoring to further direct funding and resources to economically distressed, water pollution burdened and health burdened communities. New limits for principal forgiveness, changes to affordability criteria and project ranking and scoring will be documented in the program's Intended Use Plan and available for public comment as required by EPA.

Procedural Summary

More information

Information about this rulemaking is on this rulemaking's web page: Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Webpage

Public Hearings

DEQ plans to hold **one** public hearing. Anyone can attend the hearing by webinar or teleconference.

Date: Nov. 15, 2022 **Start time:** 2:30 p.m.

Call in and web connection information:

Join Zoom Meeting

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83136275400?pwd=bHFCTkxNSWRHbGhrczl1Z3NEQ0UvZz09

Phone #: 888 475 4499 US Toll-free

Meeting ID: 831 3627 5400

Passcode: 952253

How to comment on this rulemaking proposal

DEQ is asking for public comment on the proposed rules. Anyone can submit comments and questions about this rulemaking. A person can submit comments through email, by regular mail or at the public hearing.

Comment deadline

DEQ will only consider comments on the proposed rules that DEQ receives by 4 p.m. on Nov. 28, 2022.

Submit comment by email to:

2022.CWSRF@DEQ.oregon.gov

Note for public university students:

ORS 192.345(29) allows Oregon public university and OHSU students to protect their university email addresses from disclosure under Oregon's public records law. If you are an Oregon public university or OHSU student, notify DEQ that you wish to keep your email address confidential.

By mail

Oregon DEQ Attn: Chris Marko 700 NE Multnomah St., Room 600 Portland, OR 97232-4100

At hearing

Sign up for rulemaking notices

Get email or text updates about this rulemaking by either:

- Signing up through this link: GovDelivery;
- Signing up on the rulemaking web site: Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Webpage

What will happen next?

DEQ will include a written response to comments in a staff report DEQ will submit to the Environmental Quality Commission. DEQ may modify the rule proposal based on the comments.

Proposed rules only become effective if the Environmental Quality Commission adopts them. DEQ's intended action is to present the proposed rule changes to the EQC as soon as possible after the earliest date on which the rule changes could take effect. DEQ will submit the proposed rule changes to the EQC for adoption in January 2023.

Statement of need

What need would the proposed rule address?

The proposed rule addresses the need to meet new requirements of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law for the Oregon CWSRF program. The new law requires CWSRF programs to provide 49% of new supplemental capitalization grant funding amount as principal forgiveness for loans for the program. CWSRF Oregon Administrative Rule currently limits the amount of principal forgiveness the program can provide on a per loan basis to 50 percent of the loan up to \$500,000. The program must increase limits for the amount of principal forgiveness on a per loan basis to be able to meet the new federal requirement.

Specifically the rule revisions will:

- Remove limits for principal forgiveness on a per loan basis from rule and allow the program to document how it will meet the new principal forgiveness requirements within the program's Intended Use Plan, which will meet federal EPA requirements.
- Enable any additional new requirements associated with future capitalization grant funding to similarly be documented in and subject to public comment through the program's Intended Use Plan.
- Allow the program the ability to adjust affordability criteria, project ranking and scoring and intended use plan to address state and federal priorities, including incorporating environmental justice metrics into program practice.

How would the proposed rule address the need?

The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law requires the Clean Water State Revolving Fund program to provide 49% of BIL supplemental capitalization grant fund amounts as principal forgiveness. Oregon CWSRF needs to provide more principal forgiveness on a per loan basis to meet this new requirement. The rule changes will allow the program to increase amount of principal forgiveness on a per loan basis, which will ensure the program can meet new federal requirements. The proposed rule changes will enable the program to incorporate environmental justice metrics into affordability criteria, project ranking and scoring to further address needs of economically distressed, water pollution and health burdened communities in Oregon.

How will DEQ know the rule addressed the need?

DEQ will know the rule addressed the need by having a rule that enables CWSRF to provide more principal forgiveness to borrowers that meet affordability criteria and is in compliance with the new requirements and priorities of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law. EPA conducts an annual Program Evaluation Report to review CWSRF program activities and ensure the program is meeting requirements for federal capitalization grant funding, including

supplemental capitalization grant funding under the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law. EPA will also review the program's Intended Use Plan including amount of principal forgiveness for borrowers, affordability criteria, project ranking and scoring criteria at least annually to ensure the program continues to meet federal requirements and priorities.

Rules affected, authorities, supporting documents

Lead division

Oregon DEQ Water Quality Division

Program or activity

Community and Programs Assistance, Clean Water State Revolving Fund Program

Chapter 340 action

| Amend | | | | |
|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--|
| 340-054-0010 | 340-054-0025 | 340-054-0026 | 340-054-0065 | |
| Repeal | | | | |
| 340-054-0027 | | | | |

| Statutory Authority - ORS | | | | |
|---------------------------|---------|---------|--|--|
| 468.020 | 468.065 | 468.440 | | |

| Statutes Implemented - ORS | | | | |
|----------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| 468.423 - 468.440 | | | | |

Documents relied on for rulemaking

| Document title | Document location |
|--|---|
| Implementation of the Clean Water and Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Provisions of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law, Radhika Fox Assistant Administrator, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency | https://www.epa.gov/system/files/documents/ 2022-03/combined_srf-implementation- memo_final_03.2022.pdf |
| Clean Water State Revolving Fund Advisory Committee Meeting Information – CWSRF 2022 Proposed Rule Changes | Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Webpage |
| Oregon Environmental Quality Commission Clean Water State Revolving Fund Update - Information Item July 22, 2022 | https://www.oregon.gov/deq/about- us/eqc/Pages/07212022.aspx#:~:text=July%2 021%2D22%2C%202022%3A,on%20July%2 021%20and%2022 |

Fee Analysis

This rulemaking does not involve fees.

Statement of fiscal and economic impact

Fiscal and Economic Impact

The CWSRF 2022 rulemaking will enable the program to meet new federal requirements and priorities under the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL) signed into law in November 2021. The BIL will provide the CWSRF program more funding for below-market interest rate loans and requires the program to provide more principal forgiveness for eligible borrowers. The BIL will provide an estimated \$125,324,381 of additional supplemental capitalization grant funding for the Oregon CWSRF program over the next five years and requires 49% of this funding to be awarded as principal forgiveness. DEQ's Clean Water State Revolving Fund program estimates positive fiscal and economic impacts from the proposed rule changes to the CWSRF. Proposed rule changes focus on:

Principal forgiveness – to enable the program to meet new federal requirements under the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law and adapt to any future federal capitalization grant requirements. The rule changes (OAR 340-054-0065) will remove limits of principal forgiveness on a per loan basis to enable the program to increase the amount of principal forgiveness on a per loan basis and so that DEQ can meet the new federal requirements for the program under BIL.

Affordability criteria – to remove detail from rule (OAR 340-054-0065) to allow the program to incorporate environmental justice metrics into affordability criteria to be determined and documented in the program's Intended Use Plan. This approach of documenting affordability criteria in the Intended Use Plan is the national norm for CWSRF programs and meets federal requirements. The Intended Use Plan is updated three times per year and the process involves public notice and comment with each update. EPA reviews the IUP to ensure the program continues to meet federal requirements.

Project ranking and scoring – to remove detail from rule (OAR 340-054-0026, OAR 340-054-0027) and document details of project ranking and scoring in the program's Intended Use Plan, which is subject to public notice and comment. This approach is the national norm and meets federal requirements.

Intended Use Plan – to remove detail from rule in the section specifically related to the Intended Use Plan (OAR 340-054-0025) regarding project ranking and scoring and include details of project ranking and scoring in the program's intended use plan, which will meet federal requirements.

The rule changes regarding principal forgiveness and affordability criteria will likely have positive fiscal impacts on communities. The proposed rule changes will enable the program to increase amount of principal forgiveness awarded on a per loan basis for eligible borrowers that meet affordability criteria, including economically distressed communities. This will likely have a direct fiscal impact by providing more subsidy in the form of principal forgiveness for loans, making financing for water pollution control projects more

affordable, and reduce debt burden on communities, particularly economically distressed communities.

In addition, the rule changes will enable the program to incorporate additional environmental justice metrics into affordability criteria to further benefit economically distressed, water pollution burdened and health burdened communities. These metrics are being determined with input from the CWSRF standing advisory committee. The CWSRF program itself would not experience significant fiscal impacts as a direct result of the rule changes and will continue to be able to maintain the perpetuity of the fund. No other DEQ programs would be impacted.

The rule changes will likely have indirect economic benefits to the general public and indirect economic benefits to large and small business owners. CWSRF provides financing at below market-rates to eligible public agencies for water pollution control projects and Community Development Financial Institutions for septic system repair, replacement or connection to public sewer. BIL will provide an additional \$20,271,000 for below-market rate interest financing in FFY22, increasing the amount of affordable financing for communities to plan, design and construct water pollution control projects.

There may be indirect economic benefits to business owners including contractors that may be involved with planning, development and construction of projects funded by CWSRF. CDFIs and their sub borrowers will have access to affordable below-market rate loans that can assist with repairs and potentially generate business activity near the project locations, including hiring septic system repair companies and purchasing equipment.

Statement of Cost of Compliance

State agencies

Direct Impacts

The revolving nature of the loan fund makes the Clean Water State Revolving Fund program self-sustaining in terms of program administration and administrative costs. The proposed rules would have no fiscal impacts to the program and no impacts to other DEQ programs or other State agencies.

Indirect impacts

No known indirect impacts.

Local governments

Direct impacts

The proposed rule changes would likely result in a direct fiscal impact on eligible public agencies for financing under the CWSRF program, including local governments,

municipalities, special districts, and intergovernmental agencies. The rule changes will allow the program to provide more below-market rate financing to local governments for water pollution control projects, and more principal forgiveness for loans to borrowers that meet affordability criteria, including economically distressed communities.

Indirect impacts

Indirect impacts to local governments may include an increase in infrastructure projects with more affordable financing to improve water quality, public health and economic development opportunities in communities throughout Oregon.

Public

Direct impacts

The general public is not eligible to borrow CWSRF loan funds directly, therefore, there would be no direct impacts to the public from the proposed rule changes.

Indirect impacts

Contractors could see an indirect impact with an increase in new contracts for construction creating additional economic benefits for the public.

Large businesses - businesses with more than 50 employees

Direct impacts

The proposed rules would have no direct economic impact on large businesses because they are not eligible to borrow CWSRF loan funds. No known direct impacts.

Indirect impacts

There may be indirect beneficial economic impacts to businesses providing services in the areas near a project funded by the CWSRF. Manufacturers, suppliers, and construction-related businesses may benefit from an increase in contracts if they are hired to work on a project funded by the CWSRF.

Small businesses - businesses with 50 or fewer employees

ORS 183.336 - Cost of Compliance for Small Businesses

a. Estimated number of small businesses and types of businesses and industries with small businesses subject to proposed rule.

No direct impacts. Small businesses are not eligible to borrow the program's funds. Engineering and construction-related businesses may benefit from an increase in contracts with funding under the CWSRF, which would increase over the next five years.

b. Projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative activities, including costs of professional services, required for small businesses to comply with the proposed rule.

No additional activities are required to comply with the proposed rules. The Bipartisan Infrastructure Law will require additional reporting for borrowers funded by CWSRF. Oregon CWSRF will conduct additional reporting and recordkeeping specific to BIL funds, which is not directly a result of the rule changes.

c. Projected equipment, supplies, labor and increased administration required for small businesses to comply with the proposed rule.

No additional resources are required for compliance with the proposed rules.

d. Describe how DEQ involved small businesses in developing this proposed rule.

No small businesses directly participated in developing the proposed rules because the rules do not directly affect them. CWSRF has convened a rulemaking advisory committee representing diverse stakeholders including local governments, state and federal agencies, and organizations involved with providing health, housing, energy and environmental services for communities throughout Oregon, including tribes and farmworker populations. The committee will continue serving as a standing advisory committee beyond the rulemaking to provide input and guidance to the CWSRF program. The rulemaking process provides opportunity for public comment at each meeting and will issue public notice for a public hearing on proposed rule changes on November 15, 2022.

Documents relied on for fiscal and economic impact

| Document title | Document location |
|---|---|
| EPA guidance and policy memos for the Clean Water State Revolving Fund loan program | DEQ Headquarters, 700 NE Multnomah, Suite 600, Portland, OR 97232 |
| Clean Water State Revolving Fund Advisory Committee Documents, Meeting Summary, Presentations | Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Webpage |

Advisory committee fiscal review

DEQ appointed a rulemaking advisory committee.

As ORS 183.33 requires, DEQ asked for the committee's recommendations on:

- Whether the proposed rules would have a fiscal impact,
- The extent of the impact, and
- Whether the proposed rules would have a significant adverse impact on small businesses; if so, then how DEQ can comply with ORS 183.540 reduce that impact.

The committee reviewed the draft fiscal and economic impact statement at the Rulemaking Advisory Committee Sept. 30, 2022, and determined the proposed rules would likely have a positive impact on local governments and would not have a significant adverse impact on small businesses in Oregon, as documented in the meeting summary.

Housing cost

As ORS 183.534 requires, DEQ evaluated whether the proposed rules would have an effect on the development cost of a 6,000-square-foot parcel and construction of a 1,200-square-foot detached, single-family dwelling on that parcel.

DEQ determined the proposed rules would have no effect on the development costs because the proposed rules only affect the cost of lending CWSRF loan funds to eligible borrowers as public agencies for water quality and infrastructure projects and CDFIs for septic system repair, replacement or connection to sewer. There is no direct impact on housing cost.

Racial Equity

ORS 183.335(2)(a)(F) requires state agencies to provide a statement identifying how adoption of this rule will affect racial equity in this state.

What does "Racial Equity" mean?

HB 2993 does not define "racial equity", and there is no one meaning of the phrase as a term of art – many different meanings have been suggested. In the legislative history, legislators acknowledged that there is no clear meaning of the phrase, and they did not attempt to provide one. Courts interpreting undefined phrases that have no fixed meaning as a term of art, give the words their ordinary meaning. The ordinary meaning of "racial equity" is treating people of all races fairly, justly and without bias. A statement of how a rule will affect "racial equity", means how the rule will affect the fair, just and unbiased treatment of people of all races.

Scope and issues are addressed by the rule

The CWSRF 2022 rulemaking will enable the program to meet new federal requirements and priorities under the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law passed in November 2021. BIL will provide the CWSRF program more funding for below-market interest rate loans and requires the program to provide more principal forgiveness for eligible borrowers. The proposed rules will have impacts statewide. The nature of the proposed rule changes is administrative by removing language from rule and moving the associated content to the program's Intended Use Plan to allow the CWSRF program the ability to address new federal requirements and priorities regarding principal forgiveness for loans, affordability criteria, and project ranking and scoring. The rule changes will allow the program to incorporate environmental justice metrics into affordability criteria, which will likely have a positive impact on racial equity in financing water pollution control projects statewide. By targeting assistance to communities that are economically distressed, health burdened, or pollution burdened, DEQ's CWSRF program will be better able to address the disproportionate effects that water pollution has on some Oregon communities. Economically distressed communities face a greater hardship raising the revenue necessary to pay for infrastructure projects. Health burdened communities can be more susceptible to the negative effects of environmental pollution. And because of their proximity to an impaired water body, pollution burdened communities bear a disproportionate amount of the negative consequences of water pollution. DEQ's CWSRF program will help advance the agency's goal of ensuring that all communities are equally protected from environmental and health risks.

Persons, groups and regulated entities subject to the rule

BIL and the proposed rule changes will positively impact regulated entities under the CWSRF program by providing more below-market rate financing and principal forgiveness for loans for eligible borrowers including public agencies for planning, design and construction of water pollution control projects. The rule changes will allow the program to

provide more principal forgiveness on a per loan basis for communities that meet affordability criteria, including economically distressed communities throughout Oregon. In addition, the rule changes will allow the program to incorporate environmental justice metrics into affordability criteria to further benefit economically distressed, water pollution burdened and health burdened communities. These metrics are being determined with input from the CWSRF rulemaking advisory committee, which will continue serving as a standing advisory committee to provide input and guidance on environmental justice metrics and program considerations beyond the rulemaking. This will likely indirectly impact the general public by reducing debt burden on communities related to water pollution control projects, including environmental justice communities. The proposed rule changes may have a positive impact on contractors, including minority and women owned businesses, related to planning, design and construction of water pollution control projects funded by CWSRF.

Racial groups likely to be affected by the issues addressed in the rule

The rule changes will increase principal forgiveness for loans to borrowers that meet affordability criteria consistent with requirements under the Clean Water Act. The CWSRF has convened a rulemaking advisory committee with representatives from local, state and federal agencies and organizations that provide social, health, housing, energy and environmental services for rural and low-income communities, Tribes, and agricultural workers, including Hispanic populations throughout the state. The committee will continue serving as a standing advisory committee to provide guidance as CWSRF develops and incorporates environmental justice metrics into program practices. The Oregon DEQ CWSRF program also continues to maintain compliance with federal requirements, including Title VI of the Civil Rights Act.

Input from stakeholders representing racial groups likely to be affected by the rule

The CWSRF rulemaking advisory committee consists of organizations that support Tribes and agriculture workers, including Hispanic populations, low-income, rural, disadvantaged communities statewide. The committee specifically includes representatives from the Northwest Portland Area Indian Health Board serving Tribes and CASA of Oregon serving agriculture workers. The program has encouraged input and information sharing from the advisory committee regarding environmental justice metrics. The initial environmental justice metrics under consideration by the program presented to the committee received positive feedback from committee members. The rulemaking process includes opportunity for public comment at every meeting and will include public notice and hearing for input on proposed rules. The program will continue working with the rulemaking advisory committee as a standing advisory committee and welcomes input from stakeholders regarding environmental justice and racial equity for further consideration by the program. CWSRF staff also participate in agency initiatives regarding environmental justice and diversity, equity and inclusion to further inform CWSRF program practice.

Data to determine racial equity impacts

The CWSRF program is utilizing guidance from U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and data tools to analyze environmental justice metrics including: "Implementation of the Clean Water and Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Provisions of the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law", United States Environmental Protection Agency, March 8, 2022; Center for Disease Control and Prevention/Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry/ Geospatial Research, Analysis, and Services Program "CDC/ATSDR Social Vulnerability Index 2018 Database Oregon"; White House Council on Environmental Quality, "Climate and Economic Justice Screening Tool"; and "CalEnviroScreen 4.0," California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment. DEQ staff is analyzing data regarding economically distressed communities, water pollution burdened communities, and health burdened communities and has provided information on the analysis at two rulemaking advisory committee meetings in July and August 2022.

Unintended adverse consequences on racial equity

No unintended adverse consequences on racial equity are expected from the rule.

Impacts on racial groups identified as likely to be affected by the rule

The changes to rule language do not directly target or affect any particular racial group. The program intends to use these environmental justice metrics to target funding and resources toward disadvantaged communities statewide. The environmental justice metrics for the program have not yet been finalized. Upon finalization, they will be incorporated into the CWSRF Intended Use Plan and published for public comment. The program will continue working with the CWSRF standing advisory committee for input and guidance on environmental justice metrics to ensure the fair, just and unbiased treatment of people of all races in financing water pollution control projects in Oregon.

Documents relied on for racial equity statement

| Document title | Document location |
|---|---|
| EPA guidance and policy memos for the Clean Water State Revolving Fund loan program | DEQ Headquarters, 700 NE Multnomah, Suite 600, Portland, OR 97232 |
| Clean Water State Revolving Fund Advisory Committee Documents, Meeting Summary, Presentations | Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Webpage |

Environmental Justice Considerations

Environmental Justice analysis

Environmental justice is the fair treatment and meaningful involvement of all people regardless of race, color, national origin, culture, education or income with respect to the development, implementation and enforcement of environmental laws, regulations and policies. DEQ is committed to incorporating environmental justice best practices into its programs and decision-making, to ensure all people in Oregon have equitable environmental and public health protections.

As referenced in the racial equity statement and previous sections of the public notice, the Oregon CWSRF program is developing environmental justice metrics to incorporate into program practice. While the proposed rules do not include specific language regarding environmental justice metrics, the rulemaking will enable the program to include environmental justice metrics into affordability criteria, project ranking and scoring and Intended Use Plan. The program intends to use environmental justice metrics to target funding, outreach and technical assistance for disadvantaged and historically undeserved communities to access funding for water pollution control projects in Oregon and help ensure all people in Oregon have equitable environmental and public health protections.

Federal relationship

ORS 183.332, 468A.327 and OAR 340-011-0029 require DEQ to attempt to adopt rules that correspond with existing equivalent federal laws and rules unless there are reasons not to do so.

The proposed rules are not different from or in addition to federal requirements. The federal Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (H.R. 3684: Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act) passed November 15, 2021, includes additional funding for Clean Water State Revolving Fund programs annually over five years with new requirements to increase the amount of principal forgiveness for eligible borrowers. DEQ is conducting this rulemaking to address requirements under the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law to increase principal forgiveness for borrowers that meet affordability criteria under the Clean Water Act.

Land use

Land-use considerations

In adopting new or amended rules, ORS 197.180 and OAR 340-018-0070 require DEQ to determine whether the proposed rules significantly affect land use. If so, DEQ must explain how the proposed rules comply with statewide land-use planning goals and local acknowledged comprehensive plans.

Under OAR 660-030-0005 and OAR 340 Division 18, DEQ considers that rules affect land use if:

- The statewide land use planning goals specifically refer to the rule or program, or
- The rule or program is reasonably expected to have significant effects on:
 - o Resources, objects, or areas identified in the statewide planning goals, or
 - o Present or future land uses identified in acknowledge comprehensive plans

DEQ determined whether the proposed rules involve programs or actions that affect land use by reviewing its Statewide Agency Coordination plan. The plan describes the programs that DEQ determined significantly affect land use. DEQ considers that its programs specifically relate to the following statewide goals:

| Goal | Title |
|------|---|
| 5 | Natural Resources, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Open Spaces |
| 6 | Air, Water and Land Resources Quality |
| 11 | Public Facilities and Services |
| 16 | Estuarine Resources |
| 19 | Ocean Resources |

Statewide goals also specifically reference the following DEQ programs:

- Nonpoint source discharge water quality program Goal 16
- Water quality and sewage disposal systems Goal 16
- Water quality permits and oil spill regulations Goal 19

Determination

The proposed rule changes do not specifically relate to addressing land use requirements under OAR 340-018-0030 for the program. Oregon DEQ's CWSRF program requires all design and construction projects to demonstrate compliance with land use requirements under OAR 340-052-002, Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: Loan Application Requirements, pursuant to OAR 340-018-0050, Compatibility with Acknowledged Comprehensive Plans, which states Department actions under OAR 340-018-0030 (Applicability) shall be compatible with local government acknowledged comprehensive plans to the extent required by law. DEQ determined that these proposed rules do not affect land use under OAR 340-018-0030 or DEQ's State Agency Coordination Program.

EQC Prior Involvement

DEQ shared information about this rulemaking with the Environmental Quality Commission at two EQC meetings: an informational item April 7, 2022 focusing on the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law introducing CWSRF rulemaking, and; information item July 22, 2022 for an update on the CWSRF rulemaking and Bipartisan Infrastructure Law implementation.

Advisory Committee

Background

The CWSRF program convened the Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Advisory Committee. The committee included representatives from local, state, and federal agencies, organizations and associations providing services regarding health, housing, energy, water, environmental quality, sustainability, utilities, rural, low-income, agriculture workers and Tribes in Oregon. CWSRF conducted three RAC meetings for review and input on the proposed rule changes, which received feedback from the committee. All RAC meetings included opportunity for public comment. The committee will continue serving as a standing advisory committee to provide input regarding changes for the program beyond the rulemaking. This public notice is for a public hearing regarding proposed rule changes in November. DEQ plans to present final proposed rule changes to the Environmental Quality Commission for adoption in January 2023.

The committee members are:

| Rulemaking Name Advisory Committee | | |
|------------------------------------|--|--|
| Name | Representing | |
| April Snell | Oregon Water Resources Congress | |
| LaDonn McElligot | USDA Rural Development | |
| Karen Lewotksy | Oregon Environmental Council | |
| RosAnna Noval | Rural Community Assistance Corporation | |
| Rose Ojeda | CASA of Oregon | |
| Joy Aldrich | Oregon Housing and Community Services Department | |
| Jason Green | Oregon Association of Water Utilities | |
| Tamra Mabbott | Morrow County | |
| Celeste Davis | Northwest Portland Area Indian Health Board | |
| Tracy Rainey | League of Oregon Cities/Oregon Association of Clean Water Agencies/Special Districts Association of Oregon | |
| Dylan Kruse | Sustainable Northwest | |
| Sara O'Brien | Willamette Partnership | |

Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Webpage: Oregon CWSRF 2022 Rulemaking Webpage

Meeting notifications

To notify people about the advisory committee's activities, DEQ:

- Sent GovDelivery bulletins, a free e-mail subscription service, to the following lists:
 - o Rulemaking
 - o DEQ Public Notices
 - o Clean Water State Revolving Fund
- Added advisory committee announcements to DEQ's calendar of public meetings at DEQ Calendar.

Committee discussions

In addition to the recommendations described under the Statement of Fiscal and Economic Impact section above, the committee reviewed the Racial Equity Statement and proposed rules and were supportive of the statements and this rulemaking.

Public Engagement

Public notice

DEQ provided notice of the proposed rulemaking and rulemaking hearing by:

- On Oct. 28, 2022, filing notice with the Oregon Secretary of State for publication in the November 2022 Oregon Bulletin;
- Posting the Notice, Invitation to Comment and Draft Rules on the web page for this rulemaking, located at: <u>Clean Water State Revolving Fund 2022</u>;
- Emailing approximately 24,033 interested parties on the following DEQ lists through GovDelivery:
 - o Rulemaking
 - o DEQ Public Notices
 - o Clean Water State Revolving Fund
- Emailing the following key legislators required under ORS 183.335:
 - Senator Kate Lieber, Chair, Senate Interim Committee On Energy and Environment
 - Senator Lynn Findley, Vice-Chair, Senate Interim Committee On Energy and Environment
 - o Representative Pam Marsh, Chair, House Interim Committee On Environment and Natural Resources
 - Representative Zach Hudson Vice-Chair, House Interim Committee On Environment and Natural Resources
 - o Representative David Brock-Smith Vice-Chair, House Interim Committee On Environment and Natural Resources
 - o Representative Ken Helm, Chair, House Interim Committee on Agriculture, Land Use, and Water
 - Representative Mark Owens, Vice-Chair, House Interim Committee on Agriculture, Land Use, and Water
- Emailing advisory committee members,
- Posting on the DEQ event calendar: <u>DEQ Calendar</u>

How to comment on this rulemaking proposal

DEQ is asking for public comment on the proposed rules. Anyone can submit comments and questions about this rulemaking. A person can submit comments through email, by regular mail or at the public hearing.

Comment deadline

DEQ will only consider comments on the proposed rules that DEQ receives by 4 p.m., on Nov. 28, 2022.

Submit comment by email to:

2022.CWSRF@DEQ.oregon.gov

Note for public university students:

ORS 192.345(29) allows Oregon public university and OHSU students to protect their university email addresses from disclosure under Oregon's public records law. If you are an Oregon public university or OHSU student, notify DEQ that you wish to keep your email address confidential.

By mail

Oregon DEQ Attn: Chris Marko 700 NE Multnomah St., Room 600 Portland, OR 97232-4100

At hearing

Public Hearing

DEQ plans to hold one public hearing.

The public hearing is online and by teleconference only.

Anyone can attend a hearing by webinar or teleconference.

Date: Nov. 15, 2022 **Start time:** 2:30 p.m.

Call in and web connection information:

Join Zoom Meeting

 $\frac{\text{https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83136275400?pwd=bHFCTkxNSWRHbGhrczl1Z3NEQ0UvZz0}{9}$

Phone #: 888 475 4499 US Toll-free

Meeting ID: 831 3627 5400

Passcode: 952253

DEQ will consider all comments and testimony received before the closing date. DEQ will summarize all comments and respond to comments in the Environmental Quality Commission staff report.

Accessibility Information

You may review copies of all documents referenced in this announcement electronically. To schedule a review of all websites and documents referenced in this announcement, call Chris Marko, DEQ (503-880-6060).

Please notify DEQ of any special physical or language accommodations or if you need information in large print, Braille or another format, or any other arrangements necessary to accommodate a disability. To make these arrangements, contact DEQ, Portland, at 503-2295696 or call toll-free in Oregon at 1-800-452-4011, ext. 5696; fax to 503-229-6762; or email to deqinfo@deq.state.or.us. Hearing impaired persons may call 711.



State of Oregon Department of Environmental Quality

Draft Rules – Edits Highlighted

Key to Identifying Changed Text:

Deleted Text

New/inserted text

Chapter 340

Division 54 CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM

340-54-0010 Definitions

The following definitions apply to this rule division:

- (1) "Applicant" means a public agency or qualified institution that has applied for a CWSRF loan under this division.
- (2) "Available sewer" has the meaning given in ORS 454.779.
- (3) "Borrower" means a public agency or qualified institution that has signed a CWSRF loan agreement with DEQ.
- (4) "Change order" means a written order, and supporting information from a borrower, to a borrower's contractor authorizing an addition, deletion or revision in the work within the scope of the contract documents, including any required adjustment in contract price or time.
- (5) "Checklist of loan application requirements" means a list that DEQ provides of all documents an applicant must submit to DEQ to receive a loan offer under this division.
- (6) "Clean Water Act" or "CWA" means the federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 § 1387.
- (7) "Clean Water State Revolving Fund" or "CWSRF" means the Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund established under ORS 468.427.
- (8) "Community development financial institution borrower" or "CDFI Borrower" means a qualified institution that has signed a CWSRF loan agreement with DEQ.
- (9) "Community development financial institution loan" or "CDFI loan" means a loan with proceeds made available from a CWSRF loan that a qualified institution uses to

finance projects to (i) repair or replace failing on-site septic systems or (ii) replace failing on-site septic systems with connections to an available sewer.

- (10) "Construction" means erecting, installing, expanding or improving a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control activity or estuary management project, and includes demolishing an obsolete facility.
- (11) "Cross-cutting authorities" means requirements of federal laws and Executive Orders that apply to projects and activities funded under the CWSRF program.
- (12) "Default" means failing to pay principal, interest or annual fees, or to comply with other CWSRF loan terms or provisions, and includes filing bankruptcy or other written admission of an inability to satisfy a borrower's obligations under a CWSRF loan.
- (13) "DEQ" means the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.
- (14) "Design" means preparing engineering drawings and specifications for the proposed construction, and may include pre-design activities.
- (15) "Eligible recipient" means public agency with the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (16) "EPA" means the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- (17) "Estuary management" means implementing actions identified in a Comprehensive Conservation Management Plan developed for a designated national estuary.
- (18) "Failing on-site septic system" means an on-site septic system that discharges untreated or incompletely treated sewage or septic tank effluent directly or indirectly onto the ground surface or into public waters or that creates a public health hazard.
- (19) "Federal loans" are loans DEQ designates yearly in its Intended Use Plan that represent projects that are funded with monies directly made available by the federal capitalization grant for the associated federal fiscal year.
- (20) "Local community loan" means a loan, the proceeds of which a public agency uses to establish a local financial program that will fund an eligible nonpoint source control or estuary management activity.
- (21) "Maintenance" means regularly scheduled work performed to repair, replace or upgrade equipment in a facility, or to prevent or correct a failure or a malfunction of a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control or estuary management project.
- (22) "Natural infrastructure" means using a natural form and ecosystem function to restore or augment a project's intended water quality benefits.
- (23) "Nonpoint source" has the meaning given in ORS 468B.005.

- (24) "Nonpoint source control" means implementing a nonpoint source control activity under section 319 of the Clean Water Act and 40 C.F.R. § 35.3115(b) that is included in the 2014 Oregon Nonpoint Source Management Program Plan.
- (25) "On-site septic system" means a subsurface on-site sewage treatment and disposal system, including, but not limited to, alternative sewage disposal systems, nonwater-carried sewage disposal facilities and subsurface sewage disposal systems as those terms are defined in ORS 454.605.
- (26) "Operation" means controlling wastewater collection system pumping stations and wastewater facility treatment unit processes, controlling equipment and processes of stormwater facilities, nonpoint source control and estuary management projects, and the financial and personnel management, records, laboratory control, process control, safety, and emergency planning for these facilities and projects.
- (27) "Planning" means monitoring, data collection and measurement, evaluation, analysis, security evaluations, report preparation, environmental review, public education and review process and any other activity leading to a written plan for providing a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control or estuary management project intended to remediate an existing or anticipated water pollution problem, but does not include the preparation of detailed bid documents for construction.
- (28) "Point source" has the meaning given in ORS 468B.005.
- (29) "Principal forgiveness" means additional subsidization that allows a borrower to repay only a specified portion of the loan principal.
- (30) "Project" means the activities or tasks identified in a loan application or a loan agreement for which a borrower may expend or obligate funds.
- (31) "Project period" means the timeframe a project may be financed by a CWSRF loan.
- (32) "Public agency" has the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (33) "Public agency borrower" means a public agency that has signed a CWSRF loan agreement with DEQ.
- (34) "Qualified institution" has the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (35) "Ready to proceed" means, in regard to a project, that a loan applicant's project details have been published in the Intended Use Plan under OAR 340-054-0025(3)–340-054-0025(5) and the applicant has met all loan requirements set out in OAR 340-054-0022.
- (36) "Replacement" means obtaining and installing equipment, accessories or appurtenances necessary for operating a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control or estuary management project in order to maintain a facility or project for the purpose for which it was designed and constructed during its useful life, but does not mean replacing a facility or project at the end of its useful life.

- (37) "Small community" means a public agency serving a population of 10,000 or less.
- (38) "Sponsorship option" means DEQ's financing mechanism that allows a public agency with the authority to finance and implement a wastewater facility project and an eligible nonpoint source control or estuary management activity to be financed through one combined CWSRF application.
- (39) "Stormwater" means water runoff from a precipitation event, snowmelt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage.
- (40) "Sub-borrower" means a responsible party that signs a sub-loan.
- (41) "Sub-loan" means a loan issued to a sub-borrower by a borrower using CWSRF loan proceeds.
- (42) "Sustainability" means the long term reliability and viability of finance, operations, environmental performance or technology, or using natural infrastructure.
- (43) "Treatment works" has the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (44) "Wastewater" has the meaning given for "sewage" in ORS 468B.005.
- (45) "Wastewater collection system" means publicly owned pipelines, conduits, pumping stations, force mains and any other related structures, devices or equipment used to convey wastewater to a wastewater treatment facility.
- (46) "Wastewater facility" means a wastewater collection system or wastewater treatment facility.
- (47) "Wastewater treatment facility" means a publicly owned plant, device, structure or equipment used to treat, neutralize, stabilize, reuse or dispose of wastewater and treatment residuals.
- (48) "Water quality standards" means the surface water standards established in OAR 340-041 and the minimum groundwater protection requirements established in OAR 340-040.

[Note: The Intended Use Plan referenced is available from the agency. View a PDF of the Oregon Nonpoint Source Management Program by clicking on the "Tables" link below.]

[ED. NOTE: To view attachments referenced in rule text, click here to view rule.]

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 468.423 – 468.440

History:

DEQ 12-2021, amend filed 07/26/2021, effective 07/26/2021

DEO 8-2018, minor correction filed 02/14/2018, effective 02/14/2018

DEQ 37-2017, minor correction filed 12/14/2017, effective 12/14/2017

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 2-2014, f. 1-28-14, cert. ef. 2-3-14

DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

DEQ 13-2010, f. & cert. ef. 10-27-10

DEQ 3-2010(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 5-4-10 thru 10-29-10

DEQ 10-2003, f. & cert. ef. 5-27-03

DEO 3-1995, f. & cert. ef. 1-23-95

DEQ 1-1993, f. & cert. ef. 1-22-93

DEQ 30-1990, f. & cert. ef. 8-1-90

DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89

340-054-0025

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: Intended Use Plan (IUP) and Project Priority List

- (1) IUP development. DEQ will annually develop and submit an IUP to EPA as described in the CWA § 606 and 40 C.F.R. § 35.3150. DEQ will update the IUP as specified in section (2) of this rule. The IUP will describe how DEQ proposes to fund projects through the CWSRF and will include a project priority list that numerically ranks all eligible applications received.
- (2) IUP update.
- (a) Except as specified in subsection (b) of this section, DEQ will update the annual IUP and project priority list at least every four months or when DEQ receives five eligible applications, whichever timeframe is shorter, and will submit the updated plan to EPA.
- (b) If DEQ does not receive an eligible application during a four-month period and determines the project priority list does not need to be updated, DEQ will not update the IUP.
- (3) IUP public notice. DEQ will provide public notice and 14 days for the public to comment on a proposed draft IUP.
- (a) DEQ will notify all new applicants of their project application ranking on the project priority list when DEQ develops and updates an annual IUP.
- (b) An applicant may ask DEQ to reevaluate their project application's score and ranking on the proposed project priority list or to make other changes to an IUP during the public comment period.
- (c) DEQ will consider and respond to all comments submitted during the public comment period before finalizing an IUP.
- (4) Project priority list development. DEQ will include an eligible project under OAR 340-054-0015 on the project priority list if an applicant submits a completed application on a DEQ-approved form.

- (5) Project priority list ranking. DEQ will numerically rank all eligible proposed project applications based on the point sum from the criteria specified in OAR 340-054-0026 and 340-054-0027 the Intended Use Plan.
- (a) Except as specified in subsection (b) of this section, DEQ will evaluate each criterion in OAR 340-054-0026 and 340-054-0027 on a point scale from one to five as follows:
- (A) One point No or very low likelihood.
- (B) Two points Low or in some minor way.
- (C) Three points = Moderate to significant likelihood.
- (D) Four points = High likelihood.
- (E) Five points Very high likelihood.
- (b) DEQ will evaluate criteria 1(c), 1(d), 2(b), 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), and 3(d) in OAR 340-054-0026 and criterion 5 in OAR 340-054-0027 by doubling the point scale specified in subsection (a) of this section.
- (6) Removal of application from the project priority list.
- (a) DEQ may retain an applicant's ranked project on the project priority list in an IUP for up to 36 months while an applicant pursues all applicable CWSRF financing requirements specified in this division.
- (b) After DEQ initially includes a ranked project on the project priority list, an applicant must submit to DEQ an annual written project status report to remain on the project priority list.
- (c) DEQ may provide one twelve-month extension to an applicant asking to remain on the project priority list beyond the 36-month limit. An applicant asking for an extension must submit to DEQ a written project status report on the applicant's project progress and an updated time frame indicating when the applicant will complete all CWSRF financing requirements.
- (d) DEQ will provide written notice to an applicant before removing the applicant's project from the project priority list.
- (e) DEQ will remove a project from the project priority list if:
- (A) An applicant does not submit an annual written project status report as subsection (b) of this section requires;
- (B) An applicant does not ask for a twelve-month extension beyond the 36-month limit and submit the project status report as subsection (c) of this section requires;
- (C) DEQ determines the project scope changed from the original ranked application;

- (D) DEQ determines a project does not meet eligibility requirements;
- (E) An applicant does not require CWSRF financing; or
- (F) An applicant asks to be removed from the project priority list.
- (f) If DEQ removes a project from the project priority list as specified in paragraph (e)(A through C) of this section, an applicant may resubmit to DEQ a loan application for an eligible project that DEQ will evaluate under section (5) of this rule.

[Note: Publications referred to are not included here. The Project Priority List is contained within the CWSRF Intended Use Plan. That document is available from the agency.]

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 **Statutes/Other Implemented:** ORS 468.423 – 468.440 **History:**

DEQ 12-2021, amend filed 07/26/2021, effective 07/26/2021

DEQ 60-2018, minor correction filed 04/04/2018, effective 04/04/2018

DEQ 38-2017, minor correction filed 12/14/2017, effective 12/14/2017

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

DEQ 13-2010, f. & cert. ef. 10-27-10

DEQ 3-2010(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 5-4-10 thru 10-29-10

DEQ 7-2009, f. & cert. ef. 10-28-09

DEQ 1-2009(Temp), f. 4-27-09, cert. ef. 5-1-09 thru 10-27-09

DEQ 10-2003, f. & cert. ef. 5-27-03

DEQ 3-1995, f. & cert. ef. 1-23-95

DEQ 1-1993, f. & cert. ef. 1-22-93

DEQ 30-1990, f. & cert. ef. 8-1-90

DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89

340-054-0026

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: CWSRF Project Ranking Criteria for Non-planning Loans

- (1) Category 1. Water quality standards and public health considerations.
- (a) Does the project improve water quality by addressing water quality parameters including, but not limited to: temperature, dissolved oxygen, contaminated sediments, toxic substances, bacteria or nutrients?
- (b) Does the project ensure that a facility currently in compliance, but at risk of noncompliance, remains in compliance?
- (c) Does the project address noncompliance with water quality standards, public health issues or effluent limits related to surface waters, biosolids, water reuse or groundwater?

- (d) If the project is not implemented, is a water quality standard likely to be exceeded or an existing exceedance likely to worsen?
- (2) Category 2. Watershed and health benefits.
- (a) Does the project improve or sustain aquatic habitat supporting native species or state or federally threatened or endangered species?
- (b) Does the project address a water quality or public health issue within a federally designated wild and scenic river or sole source aquifer, state designated scenic waterway, the Lower Columbia River or Tillamook Bay estuary, a river designated under OAR 340-041-0350, or a significant wetland and riparian area identified and listed by a local government?
- (c) Does the project support implementation of a total maximum daily load (TMDL) allocation, a department water quality status and action plan or designated groundwater management area declared under ORS 468B.180?
- (d) Does the project provide performance based water quality improvements supported by monitoring and reasonable assurance that the project will continue to function over time?
- (e) Does the project integrate or expand sustainability or using natural infrastructure, or use approaches including, but not limited to, water quality trading, that are not specified in subsections (f) through (i) of this section of the rule?
- (f) Does the project incorporate or expand green infrastructure including, but not limited to, practices that manage wet weather and that maintain and restore natural hydrology by infiltrating, evapotranspiring, harvesting or using stormwater on a local or regional scale?
- (g) Does the project incorporate or expand water efficiency including, but not limited to, using improved technologies and practices to deliver equal or better services with less water, such as conservation, reuse efforts or water loss reduction and prevention?
- (h) Does the project incorporate or expand energy efficiency including, but not limited to, using improved technologies and practices to reduce energy consumption of water quality projects, use energy in a more efficient way or to produce or utilize renewable energy?
- (i) Does the project incorporate or expand environmentally innovative projects including, but not limited to, demonstrating new or innovative approaches to deliver services or manage water resources in a more sustainable way?
- (3) Category 3. Other considerations.
- (a) Does the project include a long-term planning effort that addresses financial, managerial or technical capability, or asset planning that ensures the project will be maintained?
- (b) Does the project include a significant on-going educational or outreach component?

- (c) Does the project incorporate other resources including, but not limited to, in-kind support, other funding sources or a partnership with a governmental, tribal or non-governmental organization?
- (d) Does the project address a small community's water quality improvement or restoration need?
- (e) Does the project include a sponsorship option?

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 468.423 - 468.440

History:

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15 DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

340-054-0027

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans to Public Agency Borrowers: CWSRF Project Ranking Criteria for Planning Loans

Will the scope of the planning effort:

- (1) Include more than one water quality benefit, pollutant or restoration effort?
- (2) Include sustainability?
- (3) Take advantage of an opportunity with respect to timing, finances, partnership or other advantageous opportunity?
- (4) Include financial, managerial or technical capability aspects of the project?
- (5) Include integrating natural infrastructure and built systems?
- (6) Demonstrate applicant cost effectiveness by considering three or more project alternatives such as optimizing an existing facility, regional partnership or consolidation?

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 468.423 - 468.440

History:

DEQ 12-2021, amend filed 07/26/2021, effective 07/26/2021

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

340-054-0065

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans to Public Agency Borrowers: Loan Types, Terms and Interest Rates

(1) Loan types. A CWSRF loan to a public agency borrower must be one of the following:

- (a) A loan secured by a general obligation bond, as defined in ORS 287A.001(10).
- (b) A loan secured by the public agency borrower's pledge of its full faith and credit and taxing power, as described in ORS 287A.315.
- (c) A loan agreement, bond or other unconditional obligation that meets the requirements specified in section (2) of this rule.
- (d) An alternative loan that meets the requirements specified in section (3) of this rule.
- (2) A CWSRF loan to a public agency borrower that is a revenue secured loan must:
- (a) Be represented by a properly executed loan agreement, bonds or other unconditional obligations to pay from specified revenues that are pledged by the public agency borrower to DEQ. The obligation to pay must include a pledge of security DEQ accepts.
- (b) Include a rate provision that requires the public agency borrower to impose and collect revenues sufficient to pay:
- (A) All expenses of operating, maintaining and replacing a project;
- (B) All debt service;
- (C) All other financial obligations including, but not limited to, contributions to reserve accounts imposed in connection with prior lien obligations; and
- (D) An amount equal to the loan's coverage requirements. This requirement is the product of the coverage factor times the debt service due in that year on the CWSRF loan. The coverage factor used must correspond to the coverage factor and reserve percentage the public agency borrower selects from subsection (d) of this section of the rule.
- (c) Include a debt service reserve provision requiring the public agency borrower to maintain a pledged reserve dedicated to the CWSRF loan payment and that meets the following requirements:
- (A) The debt service reserve must be maintained in an amount at least equal to the product of the reserve percentage listed in subsection (d) of this section of the rule times one half the average annual debt service during the repayment period based on the repayment schedule or revised repayment schedule in the loan agreement. The reserve percentage selected from subsection (d) of this section of the rule must correspond to the coverage factor selected for the CWSRF loan.
- (B) A loan reserve may be funded with the public agency borrower's cash, a letter of credit, repayment guaranty or other third party commitment to advance funds that is satisfactory to DEQ. If DEQ determines reserve funding imposes an undue hardship on the public agency borrower, DEQ may allow reserves to be funded with CWSRF loan proceeds.

- (d) Comply with the one of the following coverage factors (net income to debt service) and reserve percentages (percentage of one-half the average annual debt service):
- (A) 1.05:1-100 percent.
- (B) 1.15:1-75 percent.
- (C) 1.25:1-50 percent.
- (D) 1.35:1-25 percent.
- (e) Include a requirement for the public agency borrower to conduct a periodic rate review and rate adjustment, if necessary, to ensure estimated revenues in subsequent years are sufficient.
- (f) Include a requirement that, if revenues fail to achieve the required rate level, the public agency borrower must promptly adjust rates and charges to assure future compliance with the rate requirements. DEQ may determine that not adjusting rates does not constitute a default if the public agency borrower transfers unencumbered resources in an amount equal to the revenue deficiency to the utility system that generates the revenues.
- (g) Include a requirement that if the reserve account is depleted for any reason, the borrower must take prompt action to restore the reserve to the required minimum amount.
- (h) Include a requirement restricting additional debt appropriate to the public agency borrower's financial condition.
- (i) Prohibit the public agency borrower from selling, transferring or encumbering any financial or fixed asset of the utility system that produces the pledged revenues if the public agency borrower is in violation of a CWSRF loan requirement, or if such sale, transfer or encumbrance may cause a violation of a CWSRF loan requirement.
- (3) Alternative loans. DEQ may authorize an alternative loan to a public agency borrower for a reasonable alternative financing method if the public agency borrower demonstrates to DEQ's satisfaction that:
- (a) Borrowing money from the CWSRF through general obligation bonds, revenue bonds or a revenue-secured loan, as described in subsection (a), (b), (c), or (d) of section (1) of this rule, is unduly burdensome or costly to the public agency borrower; and
- (b) The alternative loan has a credit quality substantially equal to, or better than, the revenue secured loan credit quality to the public agency borrower. DEQ may consult with a financial advisor and may charge the public agency borrower reasonable consultation costs to determine if an alternative loan meets the credit quality requirement.
- (4) Interest rates for public agency borrowers.

- (a) Effective date. The interest rates as specified in this section are effective for all loan agreements executed on or after January 1, 2013.
- (b) Base rate. DEQ will determine the base rate used in computing the interest rates on all direct loans for a quarter based on the weekly average of state and local government bond interest rates for the preceding quarter. This base rate will be the "state and local bonds" entry reported in "Selected Interest Rates, H.15" posted by the Federal Reserve from the "Bond Buyer Index" for general obligation bonds (20 years to maturity, mixed quality).
- (c) Planning loans. The interest rate for a planning loan will be equal to 25 percent of the base rate.
- (d) Local community loans. The interest rate for a local community loan will be equal to 50 percent of the base rate.
- (e) Federal loans. DEQ will determine the interest rate for federal loans. DEQ will not set a rate that exceeds the highest rate described in Table 2 of this rule.
- (f) All other direct loans. Except as provided in OAR 340-054-0065(10), DEQ will provide the following interest rates for all other CWSRF loans:
- (A) For loans with a maximum repayment period of up to 20 years, DEQ will provide the following interest rates as detailed in Table 1 of this rule.
- (B) (Effective January 1, 2016) For loans with a maximum repayment period of up to 30 years, DEQ will provide the following interest rates as detailed in Table 2 of this rule.
- (C) DEQ will set interest rate premiums as described in Tables 1 and 2 in this rule so as to safeguard the fund's perpetuity and DEQ will reevaluate them from time to time.
- (g) Sponsorship option. When a sponsorship option is implemented within the scope of a construction loan, DEQ:
- (A) Will calculate the debt service on the wastewater facility project based on subsection (f) of this section of the rule;
- (B) Will calculate the debt service on a combined sponsorship loan by reducing the interest rate so the debt service on the sponsorship loan equals the debt service as calculated in paragraph (g)(A) of this section of the rule only upon completion of both the sponsorship and its associated point source project; and
- (C) May not reduce the resulting interest rate below one percent.
- (h) Bond proceeds for direct loans. DEQ may use bond proceeds that are matching funds for federal capitalization grants to fund direct loans at the interest rates listed in this section. Any change in the source of repayment for matching bonds will not affect this subsection's requirements.

- (5) Interest accrual and payment period for public agency borrowers. Interest begins accruing when DEQ makes the first CWSRF loan disbursement to a public agency borrower. A public agency borrower must include all outstanding accrued interest with each loan repayment.
- (6) Annual loan fee for public agency borrowers.
- (a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section of the rule, a public agency borrower must pay DEQ an annual loan fee of 0.5 percent on the unpaid loan balance specified in the payment schedule in its loan agreement. This annual loan fee is in addition to any other payments a public agency borrower is required to make under its loan agreement.
- (b) DEQ will not charge a public agency borrower any annual loan fee for a planning loan.
- (7) Commencement of loan repayment for public agency borrowers. A public agency borrower must begin its loan principal and interest repayments within one year of the date the facility is operationally complete and ready for the purpose for which it was planned, designed, and built or DEQ determines that the project is completed.
- (8) Loan term for public agency borrowers.
- (a) A public agency borrower must fully repay a loan under a repayment schedule DEQ determines. DEQ will consider the useful life of the assets financed when determining the repayment schedule. The repayment term for:
- (A) A planning loan may not exceed five years;
- (B) A local community loan may not exceed ten years;
- (C) All other loans may not exceed 20 years after project completion; and
- (D) Effective January 1, 2016, loan terms may not exceed 30 years after project completion.
- (b) DEQ will allow prepayments without penalty on all CWSRF loans except as section (11) of this rule specifies. Public agency borrowers must provide a written prepayment notification at least 30 days before the estimated pay off date.
- (c) A loan must be fully amortized by the maturity date of the loan.
- (9) Minor variations in loan terms for public agency borrowers. DEQ may authorize minor variations in financial terms of loans described in this rule to facilitate administration and repayment of a loan.
- (10) Restructure and refinance of CWSRF loans for public agency borrowers.
- (a) DEQ may consider a one-time loan restructure, such as combining two or more existing CWSRF loans, if such restructure safeguards the CWSRF's perpetuity. DEQ has the

discretion as to whether or not to offer a restructure in any individual case. DEQ also has the discretion to set all terms of any restructure.

- (A) The existing CWSRF loans must have at least 10 years term remaining except where a Planning loan is combined with a Construction loan.
- (B) A Sponsorship loan may not be combined with any other loan except its sponsoring point source project and only after the construction period for the nonpoint source control project has closed.
- (b) DEQ may consider a one-time refinance of an existing CWSRF loan if such refinance safeguards the CWSRF's perpetuity and fund utilization rate. DEQ has the discretion as to whether or not to offer refinancing in any individual case. DEQ also has the discretion to set all terms of any refinance.
- (A) The existing CWSRF loan must have at least 10 years term remaining.
- (B) Any extension of term must not exceed the project's useful life.
- (C) The refinance may not reduce the interest rate below one percent.
- (D) A refinance may only be for rate, term, or rate and term and may not include any funding disbursed to the public agency borrower.
- (c) DEQ may not charge a fee for a restructure or refinance.
- (11) Leveraged loans for public agency borrowers.
- (a) DEQ may fund loans with bond proceeds through a leveraged loan program under the following terms and conditions:
- (A) Interest rates will be less than the interest rate paid by the state on bonds sold to fund the leveraged loans. Rates will be fixed at 65 percent of the base rate.
- (B) Loan fees will be calculated in accordance with section (6) of this rule.
- (C) Notwithstanding other provisions of this rule, DEQ may make changes to the terms and conditions of a leveraged CWSRF loan to make it marketable. To the maximum extent practicable, the terms and conditions will be the same as for direct loans.
- (b) Bond issuance and related transaction costs will be paid out of bond proceeds to the extent permitted by law.
- (12) Principal forgiveness for public agency borrowers. DEQ may provide additional subsidization to public agency borrowers in the form of principal forgiveness to the maximum extent the federal capitalization grant allows and as the criteria established in this section require. A loan with principal forgiveness is subject to standard interest rates, fees, and loan terms as defined in this rule. Whenever DEQ receives a federal capitalization grant

in addition to the annual base capitalization grant, DEQ may provide additional subsidization to eligible borrowers in the form of principal forgiveness to the maximum extent that the additional capitalization grant allows, and subject to its terms and the criteria established in this section.

- (a) Eligibility. Except as specified in subsection (b) of this section of the rule, the following public agency borrowers are eligible for principal forgiveness:
- (A) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and meet affordability criteria as specified in subsection (c) of this section of the rule;
- (B) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient with a project that DEQ determines implements a process, material, technique, or technology to address water-efficiency goals, energy-efficiency goals, to mitigate stormwater runoff, or to encourage sustainable project planning, design, and construction; or
- (C) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and that do not meet the requirements of paragraph (a)(A) or (a)(B) in this section of the rule but have individual ratepayers who will experience financial hardship from a rate increase that financing a project causes. Applicants qualifying under this section must have an established ratepayer hardship assistance program. DEQ will review the applicant's ratepayer hardship assistance program for duration and effectiveness.
- (b) Ineligible loans. The following types of loans are not eligible for principal forgiveness:
- (A) Loans for projects that are not ready to proceed;
- (B) Loans that have loan agreements that include incentives such as sponsorship option loans;
- (C) Interim loans; and
- (D) Planning loans, except for planning loans for projects described in subsection (a)(B) of this section of the rule.
- (c) Affordability Criteria. Affordability criteria shall be based on income and unemployment data, population trends, and other data determined relevant by the State, including whether the project or activity is to be carried out in an economically distressed area.

DEQ will use the following criteria to determine affordability, with the most weight added to paragraph (c)(A) of this section of the rule:

- (A) Distressed as calculated by the Oregon Business Development Department's Oregon Distressed Index using the methodology described in OAR 123-024-0031; and
- (B) Negative population trends as calculated by the annual United States' Census Bureau's American Community Survey.

- (e) Alternate subsidy. DEQ may offer an alternate subsidy in lieu of principal forgiveness, such as a reduced interest rate, to eligible recipients that meet all other principal forgiveness criteria. DEQ will include any alternate subsidy awarded in the total additional subsidization allocated in any fiscal year and may not exceed the individual award amount in subsection (f) of this rule.
- (f) Award Amount.
- (A) Eligible public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient may receive additional subsidization for their loan in an amount not to exceed the maximum amount determined by DEQ up to fifty percent of their loan but not to exceed \$500,000.
- (B) For public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and that qualify for principal forgiveness under paragraph 12(a)(B), DEQ will limit the additional subsidization to 50 percent of the project components qualifying under paragraph 12(a)(B), not to exceed 50 percent of the loan amount or \$500,000, whichever is less.
- (C) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient may only receive one additional subsidization award per project.
- (g) Award Reserves.
- (A) DEQ will reserve seventy percent of the additional subsidization allocation for public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient meeting the affordability criteria in subsection (a)(A) of this section of the rule.
- (B) DEQ will reserve thirty percent of the additional subsidization allocation for public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient with projects eligible under paragraph 12(a)(B) of this section of the rule.
- (C) At the close of the federal fiscal year, DEQ may reallocate any unawarded allocation of additional subsidization in one reserve to the other reserve. If after such reallocation, unawarded allocation still remains, DEQ may reallocate unawarded additional subsidization to those public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and that are eligible under paragraph (a)(C) of this section of the rule.
- (h) Loan Term. Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and are eligible for principal forgiveness under the affordability criteria as specified in paragraph (a)(A) of this section of the rule must take the longest term available for their loan. All other applicants may choose any term permitted in section (8) of this rule. A public agency borrower may prepay its loan without penalty.

[ED. NOTE: To view attachments referenced in rule text, click here to view rule.]

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 468.423 – 468.440

History:

DEQ 12-2021, amend filed 07/26/2021, effective 07/26/2021

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

DEQ 13-2010, f. & cert. ef. 10-27-10

DEQ 3-2010(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 5-4-10 thru 10-29-10

DEQ 10-2003, f. & cert. ef. 5-27-03

DEQ 3-1995, f. & cert. ef. 1-23-95

DEQ 1-1993, f. & cert. ef. 1-22-93

DEQ 30-1990, f. & cert. ef. 8-1-90

Reverted to DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89

DEQ 31-1989(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 12-14-89

DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89



State of Oregon Department of Environmental Quality

Draft Rules – Edits Incorporated

Chapter 340

Division 54 CLEAN WATER STATE REVOLVING FUND PROGRAM

340-54-0010 Definitions

The following definitions apply to this rule division:

- (1) "Applicant" means a public agency or qualified institution that has applied for a CWSRF loan under this division.
- (2) "Available sewer" has the meaning given in ORS 454.779.
- (3) "Borrower" means a public agency or qualified institution that has signed a CWSRF loan agreement with DEQ.
- (4) "Change order" means a written order, and supporting information from a borrower, to a borrower's contractor authorizing an addition, deletion or revision in the work within the scope of the contract documents, including any required adjustment in contract price or time.
- (5) "Checklist of loan application requirements" means a list that DEQ provides of all documents an applicant must submit to DEQ to receive a loan offer under this division.
- (6) "Clean Water Act" or "CWA" means the federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1251 § 1387.
- (7) "Clean Water State Revolving Fund" or "CWSRF" means the Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund established under ORS 468.427.
- (8) "Community development financial institution borrower" or "CDFI Borrower" means a qualified institution that has signed a CWSRF loan agreement with DEQ.
- (9) "Community development financial institution loan" or "CDFI loan" means a loan with proceeds made available from a CWSRF loan that a qualified institution uses to finance projects to (i) repair or replace failing on-site septic systems or (ii) replace failing on-site septic systems with connections to an available sewer.
- (10) "Construction" means erecting, installing, expanding or improving a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control activity or estuary management project, and includes demolishing an obsolete facility.

- (11) "Cross-cutting authorities" means requirements of federal laws and Executive Orders that apply to projects and activities funded under the CWSRF program.
- (12) "Default" means failing to pay principal, interest or annual fees, or to comply with other CWSRF loan terms or provisions, and includes filing bankruptcy or other written admission of an inability to satisfy a borrower's obligations under a CWSRF loan.
- (13) "DEQ" means the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.
- (14) "Design" means preparing engineering drawings and specifications for the proposed construction, and may include pre-design activities.
- (15) "Eligible recipient" means public agency with the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (16) "EPA" means the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- (17) "Estuary management" means implementing actions identified in a Comprehensive Conservation Management Plan developed for a designated national estuary.
- (18) "Failing on-site septic system" means an on-site septic system that discharges untreated or incompletely treated sewage or septic tank effluent directly or indirectly onto the ground surface or into public waters or that creates a public health hazard.
- (19) "Federal loans" are loans DEQ designates yearly in its Intended Use Plan that represent projects that are funded with monies directly made available by the federal capitalization grant for the associated federal fiscal year.
- (20) "Local community loan" means a loan, the proceeds of which a public agency uses to establish a local financial program that will fund an eligible nonpoint source control or estuary management activity.
- (21) "Maintenance" means regularly scheduled work performed to repair, replace or upgrade equipment in a facility, or to prevent or correct a failure or a malfunction of a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control or estuary management project.
- (22) "Natural infrastructure" means using a natural form and ecosystem function to restore or augment a project's intended water quality benefits.
- (23) "Nonpoint source" has the meaning given in ORS 468B.005.
- (24) "Nonpoint source control" means implementing a nonpoint source control activity under section 319 of the Clean Water Act and 40 C.F.R. § 35.3115(b) that is included in the Oregon Nonpoint Source Management Program Plan.
- (25) "On-site septic system" means a subsurface on-site sewage treatment and disposal system, including, but not limited to, alternative sewage disposal systems, nonwater-carried sewage disposal facilities and subsurface sewage disposal systems as those terms are defined in ORS 454.605.

- (26) "Operation" means controlling wastewater collection system pumping stations and wastewater facility treatment unit processes, controlling equipment and processes of stormwater facilities, nonpoint source control and estuary management projects, and the financial and personnel management, records, laboratory control, process control, safety, and emergency planning for these facilities and projects.
- (27) "Planning" means monitoring, data collection and measurement, evaluation, analysis, security evaluations, report preparation, environmental review, public education and review process and any other activity leading to a written plan for providing a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control or estuary management project intended to remediate an existing or anticipated water pollution problem, but does not include the preparation of detailed bid documents for construction.
- (28) "Point source" has the meaning given in ORS 468B.005.
- (29) "Principal forgiveness" means additional subsidization that allows a borrower to repay only a specified portion of the loan principal.
- (30) "Project" means the activities or tasks identified in a loan application or a loan agreement for which a borrower may expend or obligate funds.
- (31) "Project period" means the timeframe a project may be financed by a CWSRF loan.
- (32) "Public agency" has the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (33) "Public agency borrower" means a public agency that has signed a CWSRF loan agreement with DEQ.
- (34) "Qualified institution" has the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (35) "Ready to proceed" means, in regard to a project, that a loan applicant's project details have been published in the Intended Use Plan under OAR 340-054-0025(3)–340-054-0025(5) and the applicant has met all loan requirements set out in OAR 340-054-0022.
- (36) "Replacement" means obtaining and installing equipment, accessories or appurtenances necessary for operating a wastewater or stormwater facility, nonpoint source control or estuary management project in order to maintain a facility or project for the purpose for which it was designed and constructed during its useful life, but does not mean replacing a facility or project at the end of its useful life.
- (37) "Small community" means a public agency serving a population of 10,000 or less.
- (38) "Sponsorship option" means DEQ's financing mechanism that allows a public agency with the authority to finance and implement a wastewater facility project and an eligible nonpoint source control or estuary management activity to be financed through one combined CWSRF application.

- (39) "Stormwater" means water runoff from a precipitation event, snowmelt runoff, and surface runoff and drainage.
- (40) "Sub-borrower" means a responsible party that signs a sub-loan.
- (41) "Sub-loan" means a loan issued to a sub-borrower by a borrower using CWSRF loan proceeds.
- (42) "Sustainability" means the long term reliability and viability of finance, operations, environmental performance or technology, or using natural infrastructure.
- (43) "Treatment works" has the meaning given in ORS 468.423.
- (44) "Wastewater" has the meaning given for "sewage" in ORS 468B.005.
- (45) "Wastewater collection system" means publicly owned pipelines, conduits, pumping stations, force mains and any other related structures, devices or equipment used to convey wastewater to a wastewater treatment facility.
- (46) "Wastewater facility" means a wastewater collection system or wastewater treatment facility.
- (47) "Wastewater treatment facility" means a publicly owned plant, device, structure or equipment used to treat, neutralize, stabilize, reuse or dispose of wastewater and treatment residuals.
- (48) "Water quality standards" means the surface water standards established in OAR 340-041 and the minimum groundwater protection requirements established in OAR 340-040.

[Note: The Intended Use Plan referenced is available from the agency. View a PDF of the Oregon Nonpoint Source Management Program by clicking on the "Tables" link below.]

[ED. NOTE: To view attachments referenced in rule text, click here to view rule.]

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 468.423 – 468.440

History:

DEQ 12-2021, amend filed 07/26/2021, effective 07/26/2021

DEQ 8-2018, minor correction filed 02/14/2018, effective 02/14/2018

DEO 37-2017, minor correction filed 12/14/2017, effective 12/14/2017

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 2-2014, f. 1-28-14, cert. ef. 2-3-14

DEO 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

DEQ 13-2010, f. & cert. ef. 10-27-10

DEQ 3-2010(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 5-4-10 thru 10-29-10

DEQ 10-2003, f. & cert. ef. 5-27-03

DEQ 3-1995, f. & cert. ef. 1-23-95

DEQ 1-1993, f. & cert. ef. 1-22-93 DEQ 30-1990, f. & cert. ef. 8-1-90 DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89

340-054-0025

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: Intended Use Plan (IUP) and Project Priority List

- (1) IUP development. DEQ will annually develop and submit an IUP to EPA as described in the CWA § 606 and 40 C.F.R. § 35.3150. DEQ will update the IUP as specified in section (2) of this rule. The IUP will describe how DEQ proposes to fund projects through the CWSRF and will include a project priority list that numerically ranks all eligible applications received.
- (2) IUP update.
- (a) Except as specified in subsection (b) of this section, DEQ will update the annual IUP and project priority list at least every four months or when DEQ receives five eligible applications, whichever timeframe is shorter, and will submit the updated plan to EPA.
- (b) If DEQ does not receive an eligible application during a four-month period and determines the project priority list does not need to be updated, DEQ will not update the IUP.
- (3) IUP public notice. DEQ will provide public notice and 14 days for the public to comment on a proposed draft IUP.
- (a) DEQ will notify all new applicants of their project application ranking on the project priority list when DEQ develops and updates an annual IUP.
- (b) An applicant may ask DEQ to reevaluate their project application's score and ranking on the proposed project priority list or to make other changes to an IUP during the public comment period.
- (c) DEQ will consider and respond to all comments submitted during the public comment period before finalizing an IUP.
- (4) Project priority list development. DEQ will include an eligible project under OAR 340-054-0015 on the project priority list if an applicant submits a completed application on a DEQ-approved form.
- (5) Project priority list ranking. DEQ will numerically rank all eligible proposed project applications based on the point sum from the criteria specified in the Intended Use Plan.
- (6) Removal of application from the project priority list.

- (a) DEQ may retain an applicant's ranked project on the project priority list in an IUP for up to 36 months while an applicant pursues all applicable CWSRF financing requirements specified in this division.
- (b) After DEQ initially includes a ranked project on the project priority list, an applicant must submit to DEQ an annual written project status report to remain on the project priority list.
- (c) DEQ may provide one twelve-month extension to an applicant asking to remain on the project priority list beyond the 36-month limit. An applicant asking for an extension must submit to DEQ a written project status report on the applicant's project progress and an updated time frame indicating when the applicant will complete all CWSRF financing requirements.
- (d) DEQ will provide written notice to an applicant before removing the applicant's project from the project priority list.
- (e) DEQ will remove a project from the project priority list if:
- (A) An applicant does not submit an annual written project status report as subsection (b) of this section requires;
- (B) An applicant does not ask for a twelve-month extension beyond the 36-month limit and submit the project status report as subsection (c) of this section requires;
- (C) DEQ determines the project scope changed from the original ranked application;
- (D) DEQ determines a project does not meet eligibility requirements;
- (E) An applicant does not require CWSRF financing; or
- (F) An applicant asks to be removed from the project priority list.
- (f) If DEQ removes a project from the project priority list as specified in paragraph (e)(A through C) of this section, an applicant may resubmit to DEQ a loan application for an eligible project that DEQ will evaluate under section (5) of this rule.

[Note: Publications referred to are not included here. The Project Priority List is contained within the CWSRF Intended Use Plan. That document is available from the agency.]

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 **Statutes/Other Implemented:** ORS 468.423 – 468.440

History:

DEQ 12-2021, amend filed 07/26/2021, effective 07/26/2021

DEQ 60-2018, minor correction filed 04/04/2018, effective 04/04/2018

DEQ 38-2017, minor correction filed 12/14/2017, effective 12/14/2017

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

DEQ 13-2010, f. & cert. ef. 10-27-10

DEQ 3-2010(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 5-4-10 thru 10-29-10

DEQ 7-2009, f. & cert. ef. 10-28-09

DEQ 1-2009(Temp), f. 4-27-09, cert. ef. 5-1-09 thru 10-27-09

DEQ 10-2003, f. & cert. ef. 5-27-03

DEO 3-1995, f. & cert. ef. 1-23-95

DEQ 1-1993, f. & cert. ef. 1-22-93

DEQ 30-1990, f. & cert. ef. 8-1-90

DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89

340-054-0026

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans: CWSRF Project Ranking Criteria for Loans

- (1) Category 1. Water quality standards and public health considerations.
- (2) Category 2. Watershed and health benefits.
- (3) Category 3. Other considerations.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 468.423 - 468.440

History:

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

340-054-0065

Clean Water State Revolving Fund Loans to Public Agency Borrowers: Loan Types, Terms and Interest Rates

- (1) Loan types. A CWSRF loan to a public agency borrower must be one of the following:
- (a) A loan secured by a general obligation bond, as defined in ORS 287A.001(10).
- (b) A loan secured by the public agency borrower's pledge of its full faith and credit and taxing power, as described in ORS 287A.315.
- (c) A loan agreement, bond or other unconditional obligation that meets the requirements specified in section (2) of this rule.
- (d) An alternative loan that meets the requirements specified in section (3) of this rule.
- (2) A CWSRF loan to a public agency borrower that is a revenue secured loan must:

- (a) Be represented by a properly executed loan agreement, bonds or other unconditional obligations to pay from specified revenues that are pledged by the public agency borrower to DEQ. The obligation to pay must include a pledge of security DEQ accepts.
- (b) Include a rate provision that requires the public agency borrower to impose and collect revenues sufficient to pay:
- (A) All expenses of operating, maintaining and replacing a project;
- (B) All debt service;
- (C) All other financial obligations including, but not limited to, contributions to reserve accounts imposed in connection with prior lien obligations; and
- (D) An amount equal to the loan's coverage requirements. This requirement is the product of the coverage factor times the debt service due in that year on the CWSRF loan. The coverage factor used must correspond to the coverage factor and reserve percentage the public agency borrower selects from subsection (d) of this section of the rule.
- (c) Include a debt service reserve provision requiring the public agency borrower to maintain a pledged reserve dedicated to the CWSRF loan payment and that meets the following requirements:
- (A) The debt service reserve must be maintained in an amount at least equal to the product of the reserve percentage listed in subsection (d) of this section of the rule times one half the average annual debt service during the repayment period based on the repayment schedule or revised repayment schedule in the loan agreement. The reserve percentage selected from subsection (d) of this section of the rule must correspond to the coverage factor selected for the CWSRF loan.
- (B) A loan reserve may be funded with the public agency borrower's cash, a letter of credit, repayment guaranty or other third party commitment to advance funds that is satisfactory to DEQ. If DEQ determines reserve funding imposes an undue hardship on the public agency borrower, DEQ may allow reserves to be funded with CWSRF loan proceeds.
- (d) Comply with the one of the following coverage factors (net income to debt service) and reserve percentages (percentage of one-half the average annual debt service):
- (A) 1.05:1-100 percent.
- (B) 1.15:1-75 percent.
- (C) 1.25:1-50 percent.
- (D) 1.35:1-25 percent.

- (e) Include a requirement for the public agency borrower to conduct a periodic rate review and rate adjustment, if necessary, to ensure estimated revenues in subsequent years are sufficient.
- (f) Include a requirement that, if revenues fail to achieve the required rate level, the public agency borrower must promptly adjust rates and charges to assure future compliance with the rate requirements. DEQ may determine that not adjusting rates does not constitute a default if the public agency borrower transfers unencumbered resources in an amount equal to the revenue deficiency to the utility system that generates the revenues.
- (g) Include a requirement that if the reserve account is depleted for any reason, the borrower must take prompt action to restore the reserve to the required minimum amount.
- (h) Include a requirement restricting additional debt appropriate to the public agency borrower's financial condition.
- (i) Prohibit the public agency borrower from selling, transferring or encumbering any financial or fixed asset of the utility system that produces the pledged revenues if the public agency borrower is in violation of a CWSRF loan requirement, or if such sale, transfer or encumbrance may cause a violation of a CWSRF loan requirement.
- (3) Alternative loans. DEQ may authorize an alternative loan to a public agency borrower for a reasonable alternative financing method if the public agency borrower demonstrates to DEQ's satisfaction that:
- (a) Borrowing money from the CWSRF through general obligation bonds, revenue bonds or a revenue-secured loan, as described in subsection (a), (b), (c), or (d) of section (1) of this rule, is unduly burdensome or costly to the public agency borrower; and
- (b) The alternative loan has a credit quality substantially equal to, or better than, the revenue secured loan credit quality to the public agency borrower. DEQ may consult with a financial advisor and may charge the public agency borrower reasonable consultation costs to determine if an alternative loan meets the credit quality requirement.
- (4) Interest rates for public agency borrowers.
- (a) Effective date. The interest rates as specified in this section are effective for all loan agreements executed on or after January 1, 2013.
- (b) Base rate. DEQ will determine the base rate used in computing the interest rates on all direct loans for a quarter based on the weekly average of state and local government bond interest rates for the preceding quarter. This base rate will be the "state and local bonds" entry reported in "Selected Interest Rates, H.15" posted by the Federal Reserve from the "Bond Buyer Index" for general obligation bonds (20 years to maturity, mixed quality).
- (c) Planning loans. The interest rate for a planning loan will be equal to 25 percent of the base rate.

- (d) Local community loans. The interest rate for a local community loan will be equal to 50 percent of the base rate.
- (e) Federal loans. DEQ will determine the interest rate for federal loans. DEQ will not set a rate that exceeds the highest rate described in Table 2 of this rule.
- (f) All other direct loans. Except as provided in OAR 340-054-0065(10), DEQ will provide the following interest rates for all other CWSRF loans:
- (A) For loans with a maximum repayment period of up to 20 years, DEQ will provide the following interest rates as detailed in Table 1 of this rule.
- (B) (Effective January 1, 2016) For loans with a maximum repayment period of up to 30 years, DEQ will provide the following interest rates as detailed in Table 2 of this rule.
- (C) DEQ will set interest rate premiums as described in Tables 1 and 2 in this rule so as to safeguard the fund's perpetuity and DEQ will reevaluate them from time to time.
- (g) Sponsorship option. When a sponsorship option is implemented within the scope of a construction loan, DEQ:
- (A) Will calculate the debt service on the wastewater facility project based on subsection (f) of this section of the rule;
- (B) Will calculate the debt service on a combined sponsorship loan by reducing the interest rate so the debt service on the sponsorship loan equals the debt service as calculated in paragraph (g)(A) of this section of the rule only upon completion of both the sponsorship and its associated point source project; and
- (C) May not reduce the resulting interest rate below one percent.
- (h) Bond proceeds for direct loans. DEQ may use bond proceeds that are matching funds for federal capitalization grants to fund direct loans at the interest rates listed in this section. Any change in the source of repayment for matching bonds will not affect this subsection's requirements.
- (5) Interest accrual and payment period for public agency borrowers. Interest begins accruing when DEQ makes the first CWSRF loan disbursement to a public agency borrower. A public agency borrower must include all outstanding accrued interest with each loan repayment.
- (6) Annual loan fee for public agency borrowers.
- (a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section of the rule, a public agency borrower must pay DEQ an annual loan fee of 0.5 percent on the unpaid loan balance specified in the payment schedule in its loan agreement. This annual loan fee is in addition to any other payments a public agency borrower is required to make under its loan agreement.

- (b) DEQ will not charge a public agency borrower any annual loan fee for a planning loan.
- (7) Commencement of loan repayment for public agency borrowers. A public agency borrower must begin its loan principal and interest repayments within one year of the date the facility is operationally complete and ready for the purpose for which it was planned, designed, and built or DEQ determines that the project is completed.
- (8) Loan term for public agency borrowers.
- (a) A public agency borrower must fully repay a loan under a repayment schedule DEQ determines. DEQ will consider the useful life of the assets financed when determining the repayment schedule. The repayment term for:
- (A) A planning loan may not exceed five years;
- (B) A local community loan may not exceed ten years;
- (C) All other loans may not exceed 20 years after project completion; and
- (D) Effective January 1, 2016, loan terms may not exceed 30 years after project completion.
- (b) DEQ will allow prepayments without penalty on all CWSRF loans except as section (11) of this rule specifies. Public agency borrowers must provide a written prepayment notification at least 30 days before the estimated pay off date.
- (c) A loan must be fully amortized by the maturity date of the loan.
- (9) Minor variations in loan terms for public agency borrowers. DEQ may authorize minor variations in financial terms of loans described in this rule to facilitate administration and repayment of a loan.
- (10) Restructure and refinance of CWSRF loans for public agency borrowers.
- (a) DEQ may consider a one-time loan restructure, such as combining two or more existing CWSRF loans, if such restructure safeguards the CWSRF's perpetuity. DEQ has the discretion as to whether or not to offer a restructure in any individual case. DEQ also has the discretion to set all terms of any restructure.
- (A) The existing CWSRF loans must have at least 10 years term remaining except where a Planning loan is combined with a Construction loan.
- (B) A Sponsorship loan may not be combined with any other loan except its sponsoring point source project and only after the construction period for the nonpoint source control project has closed.
- (b) DEQ may consider a one-time refinance of an existing CWSRF loan if such refinance safeguards the CWSRF's perpetuity and fund utilization rate. DEQ has the discretion as to

whether or not to offer refinancing in any individual case. DEQ also has the discretion to set all terms of any refinance.

- (A) The existing CWSRF loan must have at least 10 years term remaining.
- (B) Any extension of term must not exceed the project's useful life.
- (C) The refinance may not reduce the interest rate below one percent.
- (D) A refinance may only be for rate, term, or rate and term and may not include any funding disbursed to the public agency borrower.
- (c) DEQ may not charge a fee for a restructure or refinance.
- (11) Leveraged loans for public agency borrowers.
- (a) DEQ may fund loans with bond proceeds through a leveraged loan program under the following terms and conditions:
- (A) Interest rates will be less than the interest rate paid by the state on bonds sold to fund the leveraged loans. Rates will be fixed at 65 percent of the base rate.
- (B) Loan fees will be calculated in accordance with section (6) of this rule.
- (C) Notwithstanding other provisions of this rule, DEQ may make changes to the terms and conditions of a leveraged CWSRF loan to make it marketable. To the maximum extent practicable, the terms and conditions will be the same as for direct loans.
- (b) Bond issuance and related transaction costs will be paid out of bond proceeds to the extent permitted by law.
- (12) Principal forgiveness for public agency borrowers. DEQ may provide additional subsidization to public agency borrowers in the form of principal forgiveness to the maximum extent the federal capitalization grant allows and as the criteria established in this section require. A loan with principal forgiveness is subject to standard interest rates, fees, and loan terms as defined in this rule. Whenever DEQ receives a federal capitalization grant in addition to the annual base capitalization grant, DEQ may provide additional subsidization to eligible borrowers in the form of principal forgiveness to the maximum extent that the additional capitalization grant allows, and subject to its terms and the criteria established in this section.
- (a) Eligibility. Except as specified in subsection (b) of this section of the rule, the following public agency borrowers are eligible for principal forgiveness:
- (A) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and meet affordability criteria as specified in subsection (c) of this section of the rule;

- (B) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient with a project that DEQ determines implements a process, material, technique, or technology to address water-efficiency goals, energy-efficiency goals, to mitigate stormwater runoff, or to encourage sustainable project planning, design, and construction; or
- (C) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and that do not meet the requirements of paragraph (a)(A) or (a)(B) in this section of the rule but have individual ratepayers who will experience financial hardship from a rate increase that financing a project causes. Applicants qualifying under this section must have an established ratepayer hardship assistance program. DEQ will review the applicant's ratepayer hardship assistance program for duration and effectiveness.
- (b) Ineligible loans. The following types of loans are not eligible for principal forgiveness:
- (A) Loans for projects that are not ready to proceed;
- (B) Loans that have loan agreements that include incentives such as sponsorship option loans;
- (C) Interim loans
- (c) Affordability Criteria. Affordability criteria shall be based on income and unemployment data, population trends, and other data determined relevant by the State, including whether the project or activity is to be carried out in an economically distressed area.
- (d) Principal forgiveness allocation amount. DEQ may allocate or adjust the allocation of additional subsidization every federal fiscal year as a percentage of the annual federal capitalization grant, not to exceed the maximum the federal allocation regulation permits. DEQ will determine the maximum allowable annual percentage allocation of subsidization from time to time to safeguard the loan fund's perpetuity.
- (e) Alternate subsidy. DEQ may offer an alternate subsidy in lieu of principal forgiveness, such as a reduced interest rate, to eligible recipients that meet all other principal forgiveness criteria. DEQ will include any alternate subsidy awarded in the total additional subsidization allocated in any fiscal year and may not exceed the individual award amount in subsection (f) of this rule.
- (f) Award Amount.
- (A) Eligible public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient may receive additional subsidization for their loan in an amount not to exceed the maximum amount determined by DEQ.
- (B) For public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and that qualify for principal forgiveness under paragraph 12(a)(B), DEQ will limit the additional subsidization to 50 percent of the project components qualifying under paragraph 12(a)(B).

- (C) Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient may only receive one additional subsidization award per project.
- (g) Award Reserves.
- (A) DEQ will reserve seventy percent of the additional subsidization allocation for public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient meeting the affordability criteria in subsection (a)(A) of this section of the rule.
- (B) DEQ will reserve thirty percent of the additional subsidization allocation for public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient with projects eligible under paragraph 12(a)(B) of this section of the rule.
- (C) At the close of the federal fiscal year, DEQ may reallocate any unawarded allocation of additional subsidization in one reserve to the other reserve. If after such reallocation, unawarded allocation still remains, DEQ may reallocate unawarded additional subsidization to those public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and that are eligible under paragraph (a)(C) of this section of the rule.
- (h) Loan Term. Public agency borrowers that are an eligible recipient and are eligible for principal forgiveness under the affordability criteria as specified in paragraph (a)(A) of this section of the rule must take the longest term available for their loan. All other applicants may choose any term permitted in section (8) of this rule. A public agency borrower may prepay its loan without penalty.

[ED. NOTE: To view attachments referenced in rule text, click here to view rule.]

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 468.020 & 468.440 Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 468.423 – 468.440

History:

DEQ 12-2021, amend filed 07/26/2021, effective 07/26/2021

DEQ 18-2017, amend filed 11/06/2017, effective 11/07/2017

DEQ 9-2015, f. & cert. ef. 10-16-15

DEQ 11-2012, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-12

DEO 13-2010, f. & cert. ef. 10-27-10

DEQ 3-2010(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 5-4-10 thru 10-29-10

DEQ 10-2003, f. & cert. ef. 5-27-03

DEQ 3-1995, f. & cert. ef. 1-23-95

DEO 1-1993, f. & cert. ef. 1-22-93

DEQ 30-1990, f. & cert. ef. 8-1-90

Reverted to DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89

DEQ 31-1989(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 12-14-89

DEQ 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-89